
 

 

North Devon Council 
Brynsworthy Environment Centre 
Barnstaple 
North Devon   EX31 3NP 
 

K. Miles 

Chief Executive. 
 

 
 

To: All Members of the Council 
and Chief Officers 

 
NOTE: PLEASE NOTE THAT PRAYERS WILL BE SAID AT 6.25 P.M. PRIOR TO THE 
COUNCIL MEETING FOR ANY MEMBER WHO WISHES TO ATTEND 
 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to attend an Extraordinary meeting of NORTH 
DEVON COUNCIL to be held in the G107, 1st Floor, South West Institute Development 
Building, Petroc, Barnstaple - Petroc College on WEDNESDAY, 19TH MARCH, 2025 at 
6.30 pm. 
 
 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   

2.   Business brought forward by or with the consent of the Chair   

3.   Declarations of Interest   

 Please telephone the Corporate and Community Services team to prepare a form 
for your signature before the meeting. Interests must be re-declared when the item 
is called. A declaration of interest under the Code of Conduct will be a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, an Other Registrable Interest or a Non-Registrable Interest.  If 
the item directly relates to your interest you must declare the interest and leave 
the room for the item, save in the case of Other Registrable Interests or Non-
Registrable Interests where you may first speak on the item as a member of the 
public if provision has been made for the public to speak.  If the matter does not 
directly relate to your interest but still affects it then you must consider whether 
you are affected to a greater extent than most people and whether a reasonable 
person would consider your judgement to be clouded, if you are then you must 
leave the room for the item (although you may speak as a member of the public if 
provision has been made for the public to speak) or, if you are not, then you can 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
2 

 

declare the interest but still take part). 
 

4.   To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted 
Information).   

PART A 

5.   Local Government Reorganisation  (Pages 9 - 22) 

 Joint report by Chief Executive and Leader of the Council (attached). 
 

PART B (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION) 

Nil. 
 
 
 

 

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and 
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253 

 
 
 

11.03.25 
 



 
 

 
3 

 

 
GUIDANCE NOTES FOR RULES OF DEBATE AT MEETINGS OF COUNCIL 
 
Part 4, Council Procedure Rules of the Constitution 
 
The basics 
 
At a meeting of Full Council, Members shall stand when speaking unless 
unable to do so and shall address the Chair. 
 
While a Member is speaking, other Members shall remain seated unless 
rising for a point of order, a point of information or in personal explanation. 
 
No speeches may be made after the mover had moved a proposal and 
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 
 
Unless notice of motion has already been given, the Chair may require it to 
be written down and handed to him before it is discussed. 
 
When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their 
speech until later in the debate. 
 
Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to be 
personal explanation or point of order. 
 
A speech by the mover of a motion may not exceed 5 minutes without the 
consent of the Chair. 
 
Speeches by other Members may not exceed 3 minutes without the 
consent of the Chair, unless when the Council’s annual budget is under 
discussion, the leader of each political group on the Council may speak for 
up to 5 minutes or such longer period as the Chair shall allow. 
 
 
The rules of Question Time  
 
At a meeting of the Council, other than the Annual meeting, a Member of 
the Council may ask the Leader or the chair of a committee any question 
without notice upon an item of the report of a committee when that item is 
being received or under consideration by the Council. 

 
 



 
 

 
4 

 

 
 

 
 

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings 
 
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making. 
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. Members of the 
public that attend meetings must be aware that these meetings are open to the public 
and so therefore both individuals and the Council itself have the right to record the 
meeting. The Council understands that some members of the public attending its 
meetings may not wish to be filmed. The Chair of the meeting will make sure any request 
not to be filmed is respected. 
 
The rules that the Council will apply are:  
 

1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must 
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we 
know recording is taking place.  

 
2. The Chair of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording if, 

in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting or 
if the person recording is in breach of these rules.  

 
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public 

is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person recording 
should leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off. 

 
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be filmed. We ensure that agendas 

for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can take place – 
anyone not wishing to be filmed must advise the Chair at the earliest opportunity 
to allow them to be directed to an area in the room where they will not be caught 
on camera. Subject to paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above, audio recordings shall be 
permitted at all times during public meetings.  

 
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 

misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of 
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in 
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.  

 
Notes for guidance: 
 
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our 
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make 
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.  
 



 
 

 
5 

 

For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271 
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team 
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk.

mailto:memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk
mailto:communications@northdevon.gov.uk


 
 

 
6 

 

 
 
Room G107 is located on the first floor of the South West Institute Development building 
at Petroc, Old Sticklepath Hill, Barnstaple, Devon EX31 2BQ.  A lift is available to the first 
floor. 
 
The following page shows a location plan of Petroc. 
 
G Block on the plan indicates the South West Institute Development building. 
 
Parking 
 
Point 5 on the plan indicates the short stay car park which is located adjacent to the 
South West Institute Development building which is free to park after 5.00 p.m. 
 
Cycle Racks 
 
Covered cycle racks are located on the grassed area opposite Petroc’s main reception, 
before the Lifestyle building. 
 
Bus Routes 
 
Stops in Sticklepath Hill (East bound) bus service 310  
Wrey Arms (West bound) bus services 5B, 21, 21A, 21C, 62C, 322, 386, 646, 815, 821, 
903, 921   
(Sticklepath, Barnstaple – Bus Times) 
 
 
Fire evacuation procedures 
 
Fire evacuation procedures - Upon hearing a constant 2-tone alarm, please leave the 
building via your nearest marked fire exit and make your way to the nearest assembly 
point which is the short stay car park (Point 5 on the map).  Lifts are not to be used.  
Please do not take time to pick up personal belongings and leave the building promptly. 

 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fbustimes.org%2flocalities%2fsticklepath-barnstaple&c=E,1,PFIpDHnDibrTSZzzuGwIRVBo1I1Lj6VPqAgoyMaar4QkD3zkjBWqj-49Ms24tHybAcck5f5dUelkvf28ATCIkOYJyTAvuOjyecJmqb79U8-MxAmL904,&typo=1


 
 

 
7 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

North Devon Council 

Report Date: Wednesday, 19 March 2025 

Topic: Local Government Reorganisation 

Report by: Ken Miles, Chief Executive and Leader 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The English Devolution White Paper was issued in December which was 

then followed by a letter from the Minister on 5th February. 

1.2. Both documents make clear that government wish to remove two tier local 

government and expand the network of unitary authorities.  

1.3. The letter invited local authorities to come forward with proposals for local 

government reorganisation. 

1.4. This report highlights the requirements being set out by government and 

allows Council to consider submitting an interim proposal by the deadline of 

21st March. 

  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That Council note this report and consider whether to submit an interim 

proposal and if so what that should be. 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1. To allow Council to consider its options in respect of local government 

reorganisation 

4. REPORT 

4.1. The legislation under which government propose to advance local 

government reorganisation is the Local Government and Public Involvement 

in Health Act 2007 (The Act).   

4.2. Section 2 of the Act gives the power to the Secretary of State to issue a 

statutory invitation to local authorities to submit proposals for reorganisation. 

The letter issued on the 5/2/25 constitutes a statutory invitation under s2 and 

asks for proposals to be submitted by the 28th November.  It also asks for 

interim proposals by the 21st March but that is not part of the statutory code. 

4.3. The effect of section 7 of the Act is that once a proposal has been submitted 

in November, the Secretary of State’s power to reorganise an area is 

activated.  Any proposal does not need the consent of other councils affected 

and the powers can be activated just by one proposal being submitted. 

4.4. Although all authorities in an area could decide not to submit any proposals in 

the hope of retaining the two tier system, government has made its policy 

direction clear and has also linked reorganisation to devolution meaning that 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 
a deeper, more extensive devolution deal is not likely unless reorganisation 

takes place.  

4.5. The letter sets out some guidance on how final proposals should be framed 

and what they should consider.  The letter is set out in full in Appendix 1 to 

this report but some of the criteria to highlight are:- 

4.5.1 Any proposal should seek to establish a single tier of local government 

for the whole area, 

4.5.2 Unitary local government must be the right size to achieve efficiencies, 

improve capacity and withstand financial shocks, 

4.5.3 Structures must prioritise the delivery of high quality and sustainable 

public services, 

4.5.4 Proposals should highlight how councils in the area have sought to 

work together in drawing up proposals, 

4.5.5 New structures must support devolution arrangements, 

4.5.6 New structures should enable stronger community engagement and 

deliver genuine opportunity for neighbourhood empowerment, 

4.5.7 Proposals should use existing boundaries as building blocks, 

4.5.8 Proposals should plan for unitaries with populations of at least 500,000 

4.6 In relation to the final two points above, government has indicated that 

specific cases could be made for crossing boundaries or for lower population 

levels. 

4.7 Although not part of the statutory invitation, the letter also asked for interim 

plans to be submitted by the 21st March.  Conversations with government 

officials have now made clear that government is not expecting fully worked 

up or detailed proposals at this stage; it is asking for draft plans simply to see 

what the current thinking in an area is. 

4.8 Having said that, the letter does set out 8 criteria that government will expect  

to see in an interim proposal although it does accept that it may not be 

possible to provide all of this information at this stage. 

4.9  It is fair to say that all authorities are likely to have difficulty in being able 

to provide much detail at this stage.  This is because much of the data on 

which councils would want to base a decision is not yet available.  Data such 

as the disaggregation of county council service costs is still awaited as is data 

on the demand for particular services in each district.  

4.10  Any interim proposal put forward, and any other options, will therefore still 

have to be rigorously tested during the period from 21st March to 28th 

November meaning that whatever option is put forward at this stage could 

change as further work is carried out. 

4.11   It is also fair to point out that because of the very short time frame given, 

extensive public engagement and engagement with partners has not taken 

place and so again any final proposals that go forward on the 28th November 

will have to be framed and influenced by proper engagement from 21st March. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



 
4.12   Because the statutory process is not commenced until a formal proposal is 

submitted before the 28th November, it is anticipated that even if a council 

does not submit an interim proposal by the 21st March, it will still be able to 

submit a formal proposal after that date.  

4.13   Locally, all of the Devon District Councils, excluding Exeter, have been 

collaborating on an interim proposal that has been referred to as the “1:4:5” 

model.  This is shown on the map attached as Appendix 2.  Members will 

note that this option includes both Torridge and North Devon Councils within a 

proposed unitary authority that also comprises Exeter, Mid Devon and East 

Devon councils. 

4.14   Discussions have taken place at 2 working groups set up to consider options 

and whilst no firm conclusions could be formed, Members did express the 

preference to be grouped with Torridge, as a result of the deep strategic 

partnerships that exists, and with a significant economic area such as Exeter, 

to ensure financial sustainability. 

4.15   As mentioned above, it has not been possible to “test” that option against the 

data yet as this is currently unavailable.   

 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. There will be significant costs associated with this process.  At the present 

time, most District authorities are working together on the 1:4:5 proposal and 

so there is scope for sharing costs associated with drawing up the full 

proposals.   

5.2. If Council decided to submit its own formal proposals in November, the costs 

associated with drawing that up will need to be borne by the Council.  It is 

anticipated that those costs could be in excess of £100,000 - £150,000  

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

6.1. There are no equality implications flowing from this report but equality issues 

will be considered when engaging with the public at later stages. 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 

7.1. None undertaken as unnecessary 

 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on: 

8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:  The report contains general 

information about local government reorganisation which, if it happens, 

will impact upon corporate priorities. 

8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or 

8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 
 

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

9.1. The decision in respect of the recommendations in this report can be made 

pursuant to Article 4 of the Constitution. 

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under 

the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author 

of the report). 

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 

Councillors and Officers: ………………add name and job title.………………………. 

 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 5



  
 
To: Leaders of two-tier councils and 
unitary councils in Devon 

Devon County Council 
East Devon District Council 
Exeter City Council 
Mid Devon District Council 
North Devon District Council   
South Hams District Council 
Teignbridge District Council 
Torridge District Council 
West Devon Borough Council 
Plymouth City Council 
Torbay Council 

 

    Jim McMahon OBE MP 
Minister of State for Local Government and 
English Devolution 
2 Marsham Street  
London  
SW1P 4DF  
  
Your reference:  
Our reference:  

  

5 February 2025  
 
Dear Leaders 
 
This Government has been clear on our vision for simpler, more sustainable, local 
government structures, alongside a transfer of power out of Westminster through devolution. 
We know that councils of all political stripes are in crisis after a decade of decline and 
instability. Indeed, a record number of councils asked the government for support this year 
to help them set their budgets.  
 
This new government will not waste this opportunity to build empowered, simplified, resilient 
and sustainable local government for your area that will increase value for money for council 
taxpayers. Local leaders are central to our mission to deliver change for hard-working people 
in every corner of the country through our Plan for Change, and our councils are doing 
everything they can to stay afloat and provide for their communities day in, day out.  The 
Government will work closely with you to deliver these aims to the most ambitious timeline.  
 
I am writing to you now to formally invite you to work with other council leaders in your area 
to develop a proposal for local government reorganisation, and to set out further detail on 
the criteria, guidance for the development of proposals, and the timeline for this process.  A 
formal invitation with guidance for the development of your proposals is attached at Annex 
A. This invitation sets out the criteria against which proposals will be assessed.  
 
Developing proposals for reorganisation 
We expect there to be different views on the best structures for an area, and indeed there 
may be merits to a variety of approaches. Nevertheless, it is not in council taxpayers’ interest 
to devote public funds and your valuable time and effort into the development of multiple 
proposals which unnecessarily fragment services, compete against one another, require 
lengthy implementation periods or which do not sufficiently address local interests and 
identities.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 5
Appendix a



 
The public will rightly expect us to deliver on our shared responsibility to design and 
implement the best local government structures for efficient and high-quality public service 
delivery. We therefore expect local leaders to work collaboratively and proactively, including 
by sharing information, to develop robust and sustainable unitary proposals that are in the 
best interests of the whole area to which this invitation is issued, rather than developing 
competing proposals.  
 
This will mean making every effort to work together to develop and jointly submit one 
proposal for unitary local government across the whole of your area. The proposal that is 
developed for the whole of your area may be for one or more new unitary councils and 
should be complementary to devolution plans. It is open to you to explore options with 
neighbouring councils in addition to those included in this invitation, particularly where this 
helps those councils to address concerns about their sustainability or limitations arising from 
their size or boundaries or where you are working together across a wider geography within 
a strategic authority.  
 
I understand there will be some cases when it is not possible for all councils in an area to 
jointly develop and submit a proposal, despite their best efforts. This will not be a barrier to 
progress, and the Government will consider any suitable proposals submitted by the relevant 
local authorities. 
 
Supporting places through change 
It is essential that councils continue to deliver their business-as-usual services and duties, 
which remain unchanged until reorganisation is complete. This includes progress towards 
the Government’s ambition of universal coverage of up-to-date local plans as quickly as 
possible. To support with capacity, I intend to provide some funds for preparing to take 
forward any proposal, and I will share further information later in the process.  
 
Considering the efficiencies that are possible through reorganisation, we expect that areas 
will be able to meet transition costs over time from existing budgets, including from the 
flexible use of capital receipts that can support authorities in taking forward transformation 
and invest-to-save projects.  
 
The default position is that assets and liabilities remain locally managed by councils, but we 
acknowledge that there are exceptional circumstances where there has been failure linked 
to capital practices. Where that is the case, proposals should reflect the extent to which the 
implications of this can be managed locally, including as part of efficiencies possible through 
reorganisation, and Commissioners should be engaged in these discussions. We will 
continue to discuss the approach that is proposed with the area. 

 
I welcome the partnership approach that is being taken across the sector to respond to the 
ambitious plans set out in the White Paper. My department will continue to work closely with 
the Local Government Association (LGA), the District Councils Network, the County 
Councils Network and other local government partners to plan how best to support councils 
through this process. We envisage that practical support will be needed to understand and 
address the key thematic issues that will arise through reorganisation, including managing 
service impacts and opportunities for the workforce, digital and IT systems, and leadership 
support. 
 
Timelines and next steps for interim plans and full proposals 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5
Appendix a



We ask for an interim plan to be submitted on or before 21 March 2025, in line with the 
guidance set out in the attached Annex.  My officials will provide feedback on your plan to 
help support you to develop final proposals. 
 
I will expect any full proposal to be submitted by 28 November. If I decide to implement any 
proposal, and the necessary legislation is agreed by Parliament, we will work with you to 
move to elections to new ‘shadow’ unitary councils as soon as possible as is the usual 
arrangement in the process of local government reorganisation. 
 
Following submission, I will consider any and all proposals carefully before taking decisions 
on how to proceed. My officials are available throughout to discuss how your reorganisation 
and devolution aspirations might work together and what support you think you might need 
to proceed.     
 
This is a once in a generation opportunity to work together to put local government in your 
area on a more sustainable footing, creating simpler structures for your area that will deliver 
the services that local people and businesses need and deserve.  As set out in the White 
Paper, my commitment is that clear leadership locally will be met with an active partner 
nationally.    
 
I am copying this letter to council Chief Executives. I am also copying this letter to local 

Members of Parliament and to the Police and Crime Commissioner.   

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
JIM MCMAHON OBE MP 

Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5
Appendix a



Annex A 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN HEALTH ACT 2007 

INVITATION FOR PROPOSALS FOR A SINGLE TIER OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, in exercise of 
his powers under Part 1 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (‘the 2007 Act’), hereby invites any principal authority in the area of the county of 
Devon, to submit a proposal for a single tier of local government. 

This may be one of the following types of proposal as set out in the 2007 Act:  

• Type A – a single tier of local authority covering the whole of the county concerned  

• Type B – a single tier of local authority covering an area that is currently a district, or two 
or more districts  

• Type C – a single tier of local authority covering the whole of the county concerned, or 
one or more districts in the county; and one or more relevant adjoining areas 

• Combined proposal – a proposal that consists of two or more Type B proposals, two or 
more Type C proposals, or one or more Type B proposals and one or more Type C 
proposals. 
 

Proposals must be submitted in accordance with paragraphs 1 to 3: 

1. Any proposal must be made by 28 November 2025. 

2. In responding to this invitation an authority must have regard to the guidance from the 
Secretary of State set out in the Schedule to this invitation, and to any further guidance 
on responding to this invitation received from the Secretary of State. 

3. An authority responding to this invitation may either make its own proposal or make a 
proposal jointly with any of the other authorities invited to respond. 

 

 

Signed on behalf of the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government. 

 

 
 

 

 

F KIRWAN  

A senior civil servant in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government  

5 February 2025  

Page 16

Agenda Item 5
Appendix a



SCHEDULE 

Guidance from the Secretary of State for proposals for unitary local 

government. 

Criteria for unitary local government 

1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the whole of the area concerned the 

establishment of a single tier of local government.  

a) Proposals should be for sensible economic areas, with an appropriate tax base which 

does not create an undue advantage or disadvantage for one part of the area. 

b) Proposals should be for a sensible geography which will help to increase housing 

supply and meet local needs. 

c) Proposals should be supported by robust evidence and analysis and include an 

explanation of the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including evidence of estimated 

costs/benefits and local engagement. 

d) Proposals should describe clearly the single tier local government structures it is 

putting forward for the whole of the area, and explain how, if implemented, these are 

expected to achieve the outcomes described. 

 

2. Unitary local government must be the right size to achieve efficiencies, 

improve capacity and withstand financial shocks.  

a) As a guiding principle, new councils should aim for a population of 500,000 or more. 

b) There may be certain scenarios in which this 500,000 figure does not make sense for 

an area, including on devolution, and this rationale should be set out in a proposal.  

c) Efficiencies should be identified to help improve councils’ finances and make sure 

that council taxpayers are getting the best possible value for their money. 

d) Proposals should set out how an area will seek to manage transition costs, including 

planning for future service transformation opportunities from existing budgets, 

including from the flexible use of capital receipts that can support authorities in taking 

forward transformation and invest-to-save projects. 

e) For areas covering councils that are in Best Value intervention and/or in receipt of 

Exceptional Financial Support, proposals must additionally demonstrate how 

reorganisation may contribute to putting local government in the area as a whole on 

a firmer footing and what area-specific arrangements may be necessary to make new 

structures viable.  

f) In general, as with previous restructures, there is no proposal for council debt to be 

addressed centrally or written off as part of reorganisation. For areas where there are 

exceptional circumstances where there has been failure linked to capital practices, 

proposals should reflect the extent to which the implications of this can be managed 

locally, including as part of efficiencies possible through reorganisation. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5
Appendix a



3. Unitary structures must prioritise the delivery of high quality and sustainable 

public services to citizens. 

a) Proposals should show how new structures will improve local government and 

service delivery, and should avoid unnecessary fragmentation of services.  

b) Opportunities to deliver public service reform should be identified, including where 

they will lead to better value for money.  

c) Consideration should be given to the impacts for crucial services such as social care, 

children's services, SEND and homelessness, and for wider public services including 

for public safety.  

 

4. Proposals should show how councils in the area have sought to work 

together in coming to a view that meets local needs and is informed by local 

views.  

a) It is for councils to decide how best to engage locally in a meaningful and constructive 

way and this engagement activity should be evidenced in your proposal.  

b) Proposals should consider issues of local identity and cultural and historic 

importance. 

c) Proposals should include evidence of local engagement, an explanation of the views 

that have been put forward and how concerns will be addressed.  

 

5. New unitary structures must support devolution arrangements.  

a) Proposals will need to consider and set out for areas where there is already a 

Combined Authority (CA) or a Combined County Authority (CCA) established or a 

decision has been taken by Government to work with the area to establish one, how 

that institution and its governance arrangements will need to change to continue to 

function effectively; and set out clearly (where applicable) whether this proposal is 

supported by the CA/CCA /Mayor.  

b) Where no CA or CCA is already established or agreed then the proposal should set 

out how it will help unlock devolution. 

c) Proposals should ensure there are sensible population size ratios between local 

authorities and any strategic authority, with timelines that work for both priorities. 

 

6. New unitary structures should enable stronger community engagement and 

deliver genuine opportunity for neighbourhood empowerment.  

 

a) Proposals will need to explain plans to make sure that communities are engaged.  

b) Where there are already arrangements in place it should be explained how these will 

enable strong community engagement.  

Developing proposals for unitary local government 

Page 18

Agenda Item 5
Appendix a



The following matters should be taken into account in formulating a proposal:  

Boundary Changes   

a) Existing district areas should be considered the building blocks for your proposals, but 

where there is a strong justification more complex boundary changes will be considered. 

b) There will need to be a strong public services and financial sustainability related 

justification for any proposals that involve boundary changes, or that affect wider public 

services, such as fire and rescue authorities, due to the likely additional costs and 

complexities of implementation.  

Engagement and consultation on reorganisation 

a) We expect local leaders to work collaboratively and proactively, including by sharing 

information, to develop robust and sustainable unitary proposals that are in the best 

interests of the whole area to which this invitation is issued, rather than developing 

competing proposals. 

b) For those areas where Commissioners have been appointed by the Secretary of State 

as part of the Best Value Intervention, their input will be important in the development of 

robust unitary proposals.  

c) We also expect local leaders to engage their Members of Parliament, and to ensure there 

is wide engagement with local partners and stakeholders, residents, workforce and their 

representatives, and businesses on a proposal. 

d) The engagement that is undertaken should both inform the development of robust 

proposals and should also build a shared understanding of the improvements you expect 

to deliver through reorganisation.  

e) The views of other public sector providers will be crucial to understanding the best way 

to structure local government in your area. This will include the relevant Mayor (if you 

already have one), Integrated Care Board, Police (Fire) and Crime Commissioner, Fire 

and Rescue Authority, local Higher Education and Further Education providers, National 

Park Authorities, and the voluntary and third sector. 

f) Once a proposal has been submitted it will be for the Government to decide on taking a 

proposal forward and to consult as required by statute. This will be a completely separate 

process to any consultation undertaken on mayoral devolution in an area, which will be 

undertaken in some areas early this year, in parallel with this invitation. 

 

  

Page 19

Agenda Item 5
Appendix a



Interim plans 

An interim plan should be provided to Government on or before 21 March 2025. This should 

set out your progress on developing proposals in line with the criteria and guidance. The 

level of detail that is possible at this stage may vary from place to place but the expectation 

is that one interim plan is jointly submitted by all councils in the area. It may be the case 

that the interim plan describes more than one potential proposal for your area, if there is 

more than one option under consideration. The interim plan should: 

 

a) identify any barriers or challenges where further clarity or support would be helpful.  

b) identify the likely options for the size and boundaries of new councils that will offer the 

best structures for delivery of high-quality and sustainable public services across the 

area, along with indicative efficiency saving opportunities. 

c) include indicative costs and arrangements in relation to any options including planning 

for future service transformation opportunities.  

d) include early views as to the councillor numbers that will ensure both effective 

democratic representation for all parts of the area, and also effective governance and 

decision-making arrangements which will balance the unique needs of your cities, 

towns, rural and coastal areas, in line with the Local Government Boundary Commission 

for England guidance. 

e) include early views on how new structures will support devolution ambitions. 

f) include a summary of local engagement that has been undertaken and any views 

expressed, along with your further plans for wide local engagement to help shape your 

developing proposals.   

g) set out indicative costs of preparing proposals and standing up an implementation team 

as well as any arrangements proposed to coordinate potential capacity funding across 

the area.    

h) set out any voluntary arrangements that have been agreed to keep all councils involved 

in discussions as this work moves forward and to help balance the decisions needed 

now to maintain service delivery and ensure value for money for council taxpayers, with 

those key decisions that will affect the future success of any new councils in the area. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5
Appendix a



Appendix 2 - “1:4:5” 
 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5
Appendix b



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Local Government Reorganisation
	Appendix 1 Local Government Reorganisation
	Appendix 2 Local Government Reorganisation


